

7th Edition

Mine





Match food with wines that will bring out the best in both

Select, store, open, pour, and enjoy wine

Ed McCarthy

Certified Wine Educator

Mary Ewing-Mulligan

Master of Wine



Wine





Wine

7th Edition

by Ed McCarthy

Certified Wine Educator

and

Mary Ewing-Mulligan

Master of Wine



Wine For Dummies®, 7th Edition

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2019 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit https://hub.wiley.com/community/support/dummies.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018955849

ISBN 978-1-119-51273-8 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-119-51276-9 (ebk); ISBN 978-1-119-51270-7 (ebk)

Manufactured in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Contents at a Glance

Introduction	1
Part 1: Getting Started with Wine CHAPTER 1: Wine 101. CHAPTER 2: A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds). CHAPTER 3: Pinot Envy and Other Secrets about Grape Varieties. CHAPTER 4: Wine Label Lingo. CHAPTER 5: Winemaking Matters	7 19 35 51
Part 2: Wine and You: Up Close and Personal CHAPTER 6: Buying Wine to Drink at Home. CHAPTER 7: Buying Wine in Restaurants CHAPTER 8: Serving Wine CHAPTER 9: Marrying Wine with Food	79 91 105
Part 3: Wine's Classic Face: The "Old World" of Wine	133 173
Part 4: Wine's Modern Face: The "New World" of Wine CHAPTER 13: America, America CHAPTER 14: The Southern Hemisphere Explodes with Wine	229
Part 5: Wine's Exotic Face CHAPTER 15: Champagne and Other Sparklers CHAPTER 16: Wine Roads Less Traveled: Fortified and Dessert Wines	283
Part 6: When You've Caught the Bug CHAPTER 17: Buying and Collecting Wine. CHAPTER 18: Continuing Education for Wine Lovers. CHAPTER 19: Describing and Rating Wine.	331 347

Part 7: The Part of Tens	. 369
CHAPTER 20: Answers to Ten Common Questions about Wine	
CHAPTER 21: Ten Wine Myths Demystified	. 379
Part 8: Appendixes	. 387
APPENDIX A: Pronunciation Guide to Wine Terms	. 389
APPENDIX B: Glossary of Wine Terms	. 397
APPENDIX c: Vintage Wine Chart: 1996–2015	. 407
Index	. 411

Table of Contents

INTRO	DUCTION	1
	About This Book	1
	Foolish Assumptions	
	Icons Used in This Book	
	Beyond the Book	
	Where to Go from Here	4
PART	1: GETTING STARTED WITH WINE	5
CHAPTER 1:	Wine 101	7
	How Wine Happens	7
	What Color Is Your Appetite?	
	(Not exactly) white wine	10
	Red, red wine	
	Rosé wines	
	Choosing your color	
	Other Ways of Categorizing Wine	
	Table wine	
	Sparkling wine (and a highly personal spelling lesson)	
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds)	
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds)	19
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine	19
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine	192021
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action	192021
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak?	19 20 21 22
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste	1920212225
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension	1920212526
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue	192025252628
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine?	192025262829
CHAPTER 2:	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue	192025262829
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine?	192025262829
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine? What's a bad wine?	19202526282930
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine? What's a bad wine? Pinot Envy and Other Secrets about Grape Varieties.	19202526282930
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine? What's a bad wine? Pinot Envy and Other Secrets about	19202526283035
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance The nose knows The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue What's a good wine? What's a bad wine? Pinot Envy and Other Secrets about Grape Varieties. The Importance of Grape Varieties.	1920252628303535
	A Matter of Personal Taste (Buds) The Special Technique for Tasting Wine Savoring a wine's appearance. The nose knows. The mouth action Parlez-Vous Winespeak? Deconstructing a wine's taste The flavor dimension The Quality Issue. What's a good wine? What's a bad wine? Pinot Envy and Other Secrets about Grape Varieties. The Importance of Grape Varieties. Of genus and species	1920252829303535

	A Primer on White Grape Varieties	.40
	Chardonnay	.40
	Riesling	.41
	Sauvignon Blanc	.41
	Pinot Gris/Pinot Grigio	
	Other white grapes	
	A Primer on Red Grape Varieties	
	International superstars	
	Local heroes	
	Other red grapes	
CHAPTER 4:	Wine Label Lingo	. 51
	The Wine Name Game	.51
	Grape names and place-names	.52
	Hello, my name is Chardonnay: Varietal wines	.52
	Hello, my name is Bordeaux: Place-name wines	
	Wines named in other ways	
	Decoding the Language of the Label	
	The mandatory sentence	
	Indications of origin	
	Some optional label lingo	
	•	
CHAPTER 5:	Winemaking Matters	. 67
	Vineyard Jargon, Winemaking Talk	.67
	The World of Viti-Vini	.68
	Vine-growing variations	.69
	Winemaking wonder words	.70
	Even More Winemaking Terms	
	-	
PART 2	2: WINE AND YOU: UP CLOSE AND PERSONAL	. 77
CHAPTER 6:	Buying Wine to Drink at Home	70
	DUVINE WINE LO DINIK AL HOME	. 79
	, ,	
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters	.80
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters	.80 .80
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters	.80 .80 .81
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters	.80 .80 .81 .82
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants	.80 .80 .81 .82
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants Criteria for Choosing Wine Merchants.	.80 .81 .82 .82
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants Criteria for Choosing Wine Merchants In the wine shop	.80 .81 .82 .82 .83
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants Criteria for Choosing Wine Merchants. In the wine shop On the Internet	.80 .81 .82 .82 .83 .84
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants Criteria for Choosing Wine Merchants. In the wine shop On the Internet Strategies for Wine Shopping	.80 .81 .82 .82 .83 .84 .86
	Buying Wine Can Give Anyone the Jitters. Wine Retailers, Large and Small Supermarkets, superstores, and so on Specialty wine shops. Online merchants Criteria for Choosing Wine Merchants. In the wine shop On the Internet	.80 .81 .82 .82 .83 .84 .86

CHAPTER 7:	Buying Wine in Restaurants	91
	By the Glass or Buy the Bottle	91
	Just a glass, please	92
	Choosing from the bottle list	94
	Analyzing the Wine List	95
	What the wine list should tell you	96
	Tips for using the wine list	
	The end result: Choosing your wine	
	Managing the Wine Presentation Ritual	
	Restaurant Wine Tips	
	Long Live Wine Bars	104
CHAPTER 8:	Serving Wine	105
	Getting the Cork Out	
	The corkscrew not to use	
	Corkscrews to buy	
	Dealing with cork particles in your wine	
	A special case: Opening Champagne and sparkling wine	
	Screw Caps Are "In"	
	Does Wine Really Breathe?	112
	How to aerate your wine	112
	Which wines need aerating?	113
	Does the Glass Really Matter?	
	Color, size, and shape	115
	Tulips, flutes, trumpets, and other picturesque wine-glass	
	names	
	Which glasses to buy?	
	Washing your wine glasses	
	Not Too Warm, Not Too Cold	
	Entertaining with Wine	
	How much is enough?	
	Keeping Leftover Wine	
CHAPTER 9:	Marrying Wine with Food	125
	With Wine and Food, Rules Do Not Apply	125
	The Dynamics of Food and Wine	
	Tannic wines	127
	Sweet wines	
	Acidic wines	
	High-alcohol wines	
	Other Ways of Pairing Food and Wine	
	Classic Pairings of Wine and Food	130

PART 3: WINE'S CLASSIC FACE: THE "OLD WORLD"	
OF WINE	131
CHAPTER 10: Knowing the Wines of France	
The French Model	
Understanding French wine law	
Fine distinctions in the ranks	
France's Wine Regions	
Bordeaux: The Legend	
The subregions of red Bordeaux	
Classified information: Left Bank	
Classified information: Right Bank	
Bordeaux to try when you're feeling flush	
The value end of the Bordeaux spectrum	
Practical advice on drinking red Bordeaux	
Bordeaux also comes in white	
Burgundy: The Incomparable French Wine	
The grapes: Chardonnay, Pinot Noir, and Gamay	
Districts, districts everywhere	
From the regional to the sublime	
The Côte d'Or: The heart of Burgundy	
Côte Chalonnaise: Bargain Burgundies	
Chablis: Exceptional white wines	
Mâcon: Affordable whites	
Beaujolais: As delightful as it is affordable	
The Rhône Valley's Hearty Wines	
Generous wines of the South	
Noble wines of the north	
The Loire Valley: White Wine Heaven	
The Upper Loire	
The central Loire Valley	
Pays Nantais	
Alsace: Unique Region, Unique Wines	
The South and Southwest	
France's bargain wines: Languedoc-Roussillon	
Timeless Provence	
Southwest France	
Other French Wine Regions	171
CHAPTER 11: Italy, the Land of Great Vino	172
The Vineyard of Europe	
The ordinary and the elite	
Categories of Italian wine, legally speaking	176 176
HAIVS WINE REGIONS	1/6

	Reds Reign in Piedmont	178
	Barolo and Barbaresco	178
	Weekday reds	
	Piedmont's white wine	
	Tuscany the Beautiful	184
	Chianti Classico and Chianti: Italy's iconic red wines	184
	Monumental Brunello di Montalcino	
	The noble wine of Montepulciano	
	Three more wines of note from Central Tuscany	
	The Tuscan coast	
	The Tre Venezie	
	Three gentle wines from Verona, plus two blockbusters	
	Alpine Italy: Trentino-Alto-Adige	
	The far side: Friuli-Venezia Giulia	
	The Sunny South of Italy	
	Snapshots from the Rest of Italy	197
	Spain Portugal Cormany Austria Grocco	
CHAPTER 1	2: Spain, Portugal, Germany, Austria, Greece,	400
	and Other European Hot Spots	
	Intriguing Wines from Spain	
	Spain's classic wines start with Rioja	
	Ribera del Duero's serious red wines	
	Priorato: Emerging from the past	
	Other Spanish regions to know	
	Portugal: More than Just Port	
	Portugal's "green" white	
	Noteworthy Portuguese red wines	
	Germany: Europe's Individualist	
	Riesling and company	
	Germany's wine law	
	Germany's wine regions	
	Austria's Exciting Whites (and Reds)	
	Grüner Veltliner and company	
	Austrian wine names and label terms	210
	The Glory That Is Greece	
	Greek grapes	
	Wine regions, producers, and label lingo in Greece	
	Three Other European Wine Hot Spots	
	Hungary: Unique Old World wines	
	Croatia: A wine renaissance in Eastern Europe	
	Slovenia: A surprisingly large wine country	
	JIO VOLINGIA A DOLI DILIDINI DI LOLI DE VVII IL COULIU VII I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	

PART 4: WINE'S MODERN FACE: THE	
"NEW WORLD" OF WINE	227
CHAPTER 13: America, America	229
The New World of American Wine	
The grape variety as star	
American Viticultural Areas	
California, U.S.A	
Napa Valley: As Tiny as It Is Famous	
The grapes of Napa	
Who's who in Napa (and for what)	
Down-to-Earth in Sonoma	
Sonoma's AVAs	
Sonoma producers and wines	
Mendocino and Lake Counties	
The San Francisco Bay Area	
The Santa Cruz Mountains	
What's New in Old Monterey	
Gold Country: The Sierra Foothills	
San Luis Obispo: Paso Robles to Edna Valley	
Santa Barbara, Californian Paradise	
Oregon: A Tale of Two Pinots	249
Oregon's other Pinot	249
Who's who in Willamette Valley	250
Two other Oregon wine regions	
Washington State Reaches New Heights	252
Washington's wine regions	
Who's who in Washington	255
The Empire State	
The Finger Lakes region	257
Long Island and the Hudson Valley	
Who's who in New York	258
CHAPTER 14: The Southern Hemisphere Explodes	
with Wine	261
Australian Wine Power	
Winemaking, grapes, and terroir	
Australia's wine regions	
The Rise of New Zealand	
Kiwi geography	
Sauvignon Blanc, Pinot Noir lead the way	
Chile's Rapid Rise to Wine Fame	
Chile's wine regions	
The face and taste of Chilean wines	

Argentina, a Major League Player	274
Regions and grapes	274
Names to know	276
The South African Wine Safari	277
South Africa's principal wine regions	278
Steen, Pinotage, and company	279
PART 5: WINE'S EXOTIC FACE	281
CHAPTER 15: Champagne and Other Sparklers	283
All That Sparkles Is Not Champagne	284
Sparkling Wine Styles	285
The sweetness factor	285
The quality factor	286
How Sparkling Wine Happens	
Tank fermentation: Economy of scale	
Bottle fermentation: Small is beautiful	
Tasting the difference	
Champagne and Its Magic Wines	
What makes Champagne special	
Non-vintage Champagne	
Vintage Champagne	
Blanc de blancs and blanc de noirs	
Rosé Champagne	
Recommended Champagne producers	
Grower Champagnes	
Other Sparkling Wines	
Italian spumante: Dry and Sweet	
Spanish sparkling wines (Cava)	
French sparkling wine	
American sparkling wine	
English sparkling wines	
Buying and Serving Bubbly	
CHAPTER 16: Wine Roads Less Traveled: Fortified	
and Dessert Wines	307
Timing Is Everything	
The Growing Popularity of Sherry	
The Jerez triangle	
The phenomenon of flor	
Communal aging	
Two makes 12+	
Serving and storing Sherry	
Recommended Sherries	
Montilla: A Sherry look-alike	314

Italy: Marsala, Vin Santo, and the Gang	.314
Port: The Glory of Portugal	
Home, home on the Douro	316
Many Ports in a storm	.317
Storing and serving Port	319
Recommended Port producers	.320
Long Live Madeira	321
Timeless, indestructible, tasty, and baked	321
Endless finish	322
Madeira styles and grape varieties	323
Sauternes and the Nobly-Rotted Wines	324
Sauternes: Liquid gold	324
Mining the gold	325
Recommended Sauternes	325
Letting baby grow	326
Sauternes look-alikes	327
Hungary's Tokaji Aszú and Tokaji Eszencia	327
PART 6: WHEN YOU'VE CAUGHT THE BUG	. 329
CHAPTER 17: Buying and Collecting Wine	. 331
Finding the Rare and Collectible Wines	
Buying fine and collectible wines on the Internet	
Some U.S. wine stores worth knowing	
Buying wines at auctions	
The Urge to Own: Wine Collecting	
Balancing your inventory	
Organization is peace of mind	
A Healthy Environment for Your Wines	
The passive wine cellar	
If you can't be passive, be bullish	
Wine caves for apartment dwellers	
CHAPTER 18: Continuing Education for Wine Lovers	
Back to the Classroom	
One wine school in action	
Wine tastings of all shapes and sizes	
Dinner with the winemaker	
Winery visits	
When in Rome	
Armchair Travel	
Recommended books	
Wine magazines and newsletters	.357
The blogosphere of wine	.359

CHAPTER 19: Describing and Rating Wine	361
The Challenge of Putting Taste to Words	
When It's Your Turn to Speak	
Organizing your thoughts	
Describing a wine	
Rating Wine Quality	
PART 7: THE PART OF TENS	369
CHAPTER 20: Answers to Ten Common Questions	
about Wine	371
What's the Best Wine?	
Which Vintage Should I Buy?	
What Grape Variety Made This Wine?	
How Do I Know if a Wine Is Flawed?	
Are There Any Wines without Sulfites?	
What Are Organic Wines?	
Should I Join a Wine Club?	
How Should I Store My Wine?	
Are Wine Experts Sommeliers?	/ /
How Do I Know When to Drink the Special Older Wines I've Been Keeping?	377
CHAPTER 21: Ten Wine Myths Demystified	379
The Best Wines Are Varietal Wines	
A More Expensive Wine Is a Wiser Choice	380
The Palest Rosé Wines Are the Best	
A Screw-Cap Closure Indicates a Lower-Quality Wine	
Red Wines Are More Sophisticated than White Wines	
White Wine with Fish, Red with Meat	
Number Ratings Don't Lie	
	384
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	384 385
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	384 385 387
The Quality of a Wine Is Objectively Measurable	384 385 387 389

Introduction

e love the amazing variety of wines in the world, and we love the way wine brings people together at the table. We want you and everyone else to enjoy wine too — regardless of your experience or your budget.

We will be the first to admit that the trappings of wine — the ceremony, the fancy language, the paraphernalia — don't make it easy for regular people to enjoy wine. You have to know strange names of grape varieties and foreign wine regions. You have to figure out whether to buy a \$20 wine or an \$8 wine that seem to be pretty much the same thing. You usually even need a special tool to open the bottle when you get it home — although screwcaps are being used more and more for many wines.

All the complications surrounding wine will not go away easily because wine is a very rich and complex field. But you don't have to let the complications stand in your way. With the right attitude and a little understanding of what wine is, you can begin to buy and enjoy wine. And if, like us, you decide that wine is fascinating, you can find out more and turn it into a rewarding hobby.

We hate to think that wine, which has brought so much pleasure into our lives, could be the source of anxiety for anyone. We want to help you feel more comfortable around wine. Some knowledge of wine, gleaned from the pages of this book and from our shared experiences, will go a long way toward increasing your comfort level around wine.

Ironically, what will *really* make you feel comfortable about wine is accepting the fact that you'll never know it all — and that you've got plenty of company. You see, after you really get a handle on wine, you discover that *no one* knows everything there is to know about wine. There's just too much information, and it's always changing. And when you know that, you can just relax and enjoy the stuff.

About This Book

Because wine is always changing, we have written a seventh edition of *Wine For Dummies*. We have added some new countries and regions, have updated prices, and updated information on the latest vintage years. If you already have a

previous edition, you might be wondering whether you need this book. We believe that you do. We wrote the first edition of *Wine For Dummies* in 1995, and the world of wine has changed tremendously since then. It has even changed a lot since our sixth edition in 2016:

- >> The wine world has an exciting new face thanks to the communities of wine lovers who share opinions, chat, and blog on Internet sites, and these voices are shaping new trends. New styles of popular wine are emerging, and a whole new approach to food and wine pairing has taken root.
- >> The wines of South America have come on strong, and they offer some of the best values around. We've ramped up our coverage of Chile and Argentina to give you the inside track on these explosive wine regions.
- >> Hungary, Croatia, and Slovenia have recently become a more important part of the wine world. We have added them to the 7th Edition.
- >> English sparkling wines have become an important part of the sparkling wine world, even challenging Champagne. They are now in our 7th Edition.
- >> Dozens of California wineries have opened, a few have gone out of business, many have improved, and a few have slipped. Our recommendations reflect all these changes.
- >> Remember those prices we listed for wines worth trying in our earlier editions? Well, big surprise: Just about all those prices have increased. But we point out some bargains, especially in Parts 3, 4, and 5.
- >> Several new vintages have occurred; we give you the lowdown on them throughout the book, and especially in our vintage chart in Appendix C.

We wrote this book to be an easy-to-use reference. You don't have to read it from cover to cover for it to make sense and be useful to you. Simply turn to the section that interests you and dig in. Note that sidebars, which are shaded boxes of text, consist of information that's interesting but not necessarily critical to your understanding of the topic.

Also, when this book was printed, some web addresses may have needed to break across two lines of text. If that happened, rest assured that we haven't put in any extra characters (such as hyphens) to indicate the break. So, when using one of these web addresses, just type in exactly what you see in this book, pretending that the line break doesn't exist.

Foolish Assumptions

We assume that you picked up this book for one of several reasons:

- >> You know very little about wine but have a strong desire to find out more.
- >> You do know something about wine, more than most people, but you want to understand it better, from the ground up.
- You're already very knowledgeable but realize that you can always discover more.

We also assume that you don't have a lot of ego invested in wine — or maybe you do, and you're buying this book "for a friend." And we assume (correctly, we hope) that you are someone who doesn't appreciate a lot of mumbo jumbo and jargonistic language about wine — that you're someone who wants straight talk instead.

Icons Used in This Book

The pictures in the margins of this book are called *icons*, and they point out different types of information.



REAL DEA

A bargain's not a bargain unless you really like the outfit, as they say. To our tastes, the wines we mark with this icon are bargains because we like them, we believe them to be of good quality, and their price is low compared to other wines of similar type, style, or quality. You can also interpret this logo as a badge of genuineness, as in "This Chablis is the real deal."



REMEMBER

Some issues in wine are so fundamental that they bear repeating. Just so you don't think that we repeated ourselves without realizing it, we mark the repetitions with this symbol.



TECHNICAL STUFF

This odd little guy is a bit like the 2-year-old who constantly insists on knowing "Why, Mommy, why?" But he knows that you may not have the same level of curiosity that he has. Where you see him, feel free to skip over the technical information that follows. Wine will still taste just as delicious.



TIP

Advice and information that will make you a wiser wine drinker or buyer is marked by this bull's-eye so that you won't miss it.



There's very little you can do in the course of moderate wine consumption that can land you in jail — but you could spoil an expensive bottle and sink into a deep depression over your loss. This symbol warns you about common pitfalls.



Unfortunately, some of the finest, most intriguing, most delicious wines are made in very small quantities. Usually, those wines cost more than wines made in large quantities — but that's not the only problem; the real frustration is that those wines have very limited distribution, and you can't always get your hands on a bottle even if you're willing to pay the price. We mark such wines with this icon, and hope that your search proves fruitful.

Beyond the Book

As if all the great information in this book weren't enough, you can go beyond the book for even more! Check out this book's online Cheat Sheet for a quick guide to wine pronunciation, tips on how to buy wine with confidence, and more. Just go to www.dummies.com and search for this book's title.

Where to Go from Here

We recommend that you go to Chapter 1 and start reading there. But if you don't have time because you're about to head out to a fancy restaurant, then begin at Chapter 7. If you already have bottle in hand, wine in glass, and want to know more about what you're about to sip, turn to Chapter 4 to decode the words on the label, and then consult the index to find the regional section that corresponds to your wine, to read about the wines of that area. Or — because so many wines today are named after grape varieties — start with Chapter 3, which explains the major grape varieties for wine.

In other words, start wherever you wish, closer to the beginning if you're a novice and closer to the middle if you know something about wine already. On the journey of wine appreciation, *you* get to decide how far to go and how quickly — and you get to choose the route to get there. The final destination is pleasure.

Getting Started with Wine

IN THIS PART . . .

Gain some basic wine knowledge to get you started on your wine-loving journey.

Find out the techniques involved in tasting wine.

Become familiar with the different varieties of grapes and the wines they make.

Understand how to read wine names and labels.

Take a sneak peek at the process of winemaking.

- » What wine is
- » Why color matters
- » Differences among table wine, dessert wine, and sparkling wine

Chapter **1**Wine 101

e know plenty of people who enjoy drinking wine but don't know much about it. (Been there, done that ourselves.) Knowing a lot of information about wine definitely isn't a prerequisite to enjoying it. But familiarity with certain aspects of wine can make choosing wines a lot easier, enhance your enjoyment of wine, and increase your comfort level. You can master as much or as little as you like. The journey begins here.

How Wine Happens

Wine is essentially just fermented fruit juice. The recipe for turning fruit into wine goes something like this:

Pick a large quantity of ripe grapes from grapevines.

You could substitute raspberries or any other fruit, but 99.9 percent of all the wine in the world is made from grapes, because grapes make the best wines.

- Put the grapes into a clean container that doesn't leak.
- Crush the grapes somehow to release their juice.

Once upon a time, feet performed this step.

4. Wait.

In its most basic form, winemaking is that simple. After the grapes are crushed, <code>yeasts</code> (tiny one-celled organisms that exist naturally in the vineyard and, therefore, on the grapes) come into contact with the sugar in the grapes' juice and gradually convert that sugar into alcohol. Yeasts also produce carbon dioxide, which evaporates into the air. When the yeasts are done working, your grape juice is wine. The sugar that was in the juice is no longer there — alcohol is present instead. (The riper and sweeter the grapes, the more alcohol the wine will have.) This process is called <code>fermentation</code>.

Fermentation is a totally natural process that doesn't require man's participation at all, except to put the grapes into a container and release the juice from the grapes. Fermentation occurs in fresh apple cider left too long in your refrigerator, without any help from you. We read that even milk, which contains a different sort of sugar than grapes do, develops a small amount of alcohol if left on the kitchen table all day long.

Speaking of milk, Louis Pasteur is the man credited with discovering fermentation in the 19th century. That's discovering, not inventing. Some of those apples in the Garden of Eden probably fermented long before Pasteur came along. (Well, we don't think it could have been much of an Eden without wine!)

Now if every winemaker actually made wine in as crude a manner as we just described, we'd be drinking some pretty rough stuff that would hardly inspire us to write a book about wine. But today's winemakers have a bag of tricks as big as a sumo wrestler's appetite, which is one reason no two wines ever taste exactly the same.

- >> The men and women who make wine can control the type of container they use for the fermentation process (stainless steel and oak are the two main materials) as well as the size of the container and the temperature of the juice during fermentation and every one of these choices can make a real difference in the taste of the wine.
- After fermentation, winemakers can choose how long to let the wine mature (a stage when the wine sort of gets its act together) and in what kind of container. Fermentation can last three days or three months, and the wine can then mature for a couple of weeks or a couple of years or anything in between. (If you have trouble making decisions, don't ever become a winemaker.)



Obviously, one of the biggest factors in making one wine different from the next is the nature of the raw material, the grape juice. Besides the fact that riper, sweeter grapes make a more alcoholic wine, different *varieties* of grapes (Chardonnay, Cabernet Sauvignon, or Merlot, for example) make different wines. Grapes are the main ingredient in wine, and everything the winemaker does, he does to the particular grape juice he has. Chapter 3 covers specific grapes and the kinds of wine they make.

THE 411 ON SULFITES

Sulfur dioxide, a compound formed from sulfur and oxygen, occurs naturally during fermentation in very small quantities. Winemakers add it, too. Sulfur dioxide is to wine what aspirin and vitamin E are to humans — a wonder drug that cures all sorts of afflictions and prevents others. Sulfur dioxide is antibacterial, preventing the wine from turning to vinegar. It inhibits yeasts, preventing sugar that has remained in a wine (if any) from fermenting in the bottle. It's an antioxidant, keeping the wine fresh and untainted by the demon oxygen. Despite these magical properties, winemakers try to use as little sulfur dioxide as possible because many of them share a belief that the less you add to wine, the better (just as many people prefer to ingest as little medication as possible).

Most wine labels in the United States carry the phrase *Contains Sulfites* (meaning sulfur dioxide) because of a law enacted to protect the extremely tiny percentage of the population who are very sensitive to sulfites. That law requires that any wine containing more than 10 parts per million of sulfites carry the *Contains Sulfites* phrase on its label. Considering that about 10 to 20 parts per million of sulfites occur naturally in wine, that covers just about every wine.

Ironically, winemakers today need to rely on sulfur dioxide less than ever before because winery hygiene is so advanced, and sulfur dioxide use is probably at an all-time low.

Actual sulfite levels in wine range from about 30 to 150 parts per million (about the same as in dried apricots); the legal max in the United States is 350. White dessert wines have the most sulfur — followed by medium-sweet white wines and sweet rosé (pink) wines — because those types of wine need the most protection. Dry white wines generally have less, and dry reds have the least.

Of course, grapes don't grow in a void. Where they grow — the soil and climate of each wine region, as well as the traditions and goals of the people who grow the grapes and make the wine — affects the nature of the ripe grapes and the taste of the wine made from those grapes. That's why so much of the information about wine revolves around the countries and regions where wine is made. In Parts 3 and 4, we cover all the world's major wine regions and their wines.

What Color Is Your Appetite?

Your inner child will be happy to know that when it comes to wine, it's okay to like some colors more than others. You can't get away with saying "I don't like green food!" much beyond your sixth birthday, but you can express a general preference for white, red, or pink wine for all your adult years.

(Not exactly) white wine

Whoever coined the term *white wine* must have been colorblind. All you have to do is look at it to see that it's not white; it's yellow (sometimes barely yellow, sometimes a deeper yellow). But we've all gotten used to the expression by now, so white wine it is.

White wine is wine without any red color (or pink color, which is in the red family). Yellow wines, golden wines, and wines that are as pale as water are all white wines.

Wine becomes white wine in one of two ways: First, white wine can be made from white grapes — which, by the way, aren't white. (Did you see that one coming?) White grapes are greenish, greenish yellow, golden yellow, or sometimes even pinkish yellow. Basically, white grapes include all the grape types that aren't dark red or dark bluish. If you make a wine from white grapes, it's a white wine.

The second way a wine can become white is a little more complicated. The process involves using red grapes — but only the *juice* of red grapes, not the grape skins. The juice of almost all red grapes has no red pigmentation — only the skins do — therefore, a wine made with only the juice of red grapes can be a white wine. In practice, though, very few white wines come from red grapes. (Champagne is one exception; Chapter 15 addresses the use of red grapes to make Champagne.)



In case you're wondering, the skins are removed from the grapes either by pressing large quantities of grapes so that the skins break and the pulpy juice flows out — sort of like squeezing the pulp out of grapes, the way kids do — or by crushing the grapes in a machine that has rollers to break the skins so that the juice can drain away.

You can drink white wine anytime you like, but typically, people drink white wine in certain situations:

- >> Most people drink white wines without food or with *lighter foods*, such as fish, poultry, or vegetables. Chapter 9 covers the dynamics of pairing wines with food and has suggestions of foods to eat with white wine.
- >> White wines are often considered *apéritif* wines, meaning that people consume them before dinner, in place of cocktails, or at parties. (If you ask the officials who busy themselves defining such things, an apéritif wine is a wine that has flavors added to it, as vermouth does. But unless you're in the business of writing wine labels for a living, don't worry about that. In common parlance, an apéritif wine is just what we said.)
- >> A lot of people like to drink white wines when the weather is hot because they're more refreshing than red wines, and they're usually drunk chilled (the wines, not the people).

WHITE WINE STYLES: THERE'S NO SUCH THING AS PLAIN WHITE WINE

White wines fall into four general taste categories, not counting sparkling wine or the really sweet white wine that you drink with dessert (see Chapters 15 and 16 for more on each of those). If the words we use to describe these taste categories sound weird, take heart — they're all explained in Chapter 2. We also explain the styles in plentiful detail in our book *Wine Style: Using Your Senses to Explore and Enjoy Wine* (Wiley). Here are our four broad categories:

- Fresh, unoaked whites: These wines are crisp and light, with no sweetness and no
 oaky character. (Turn to Chapter 3 for the lowdown on oak.) Most Italian white
 wines, like Soave and Pinot Grigio, and some French whites, like Sancerre and some
 Chablis, fall into this category.
- Earthy whites: These wines are dry, fuller-bodied, unoaked or lightly oaked, with a lot of earthy character. Some French wines, such as Mâcon or whites from the Côtes du Rhône region (covered in Chapter 10), have this taste profile.
- Aromatic whites: These wines are characterized by intense aromas and flavors
 that come from their particular grape variety, whether they're off-dry (that is, not
 bone-dry) or dry. Examples include a lot of German wines and wines from flavorful
 grape varieties, such as Riesling or Viognier and, in some cases, Sauvignon Blanc.
- Rich, oaky whites: These wines are dry or fairly dry and full-bodied with pronounced oaky character. Most Chardonnays and some French wines — like many of those from the Burgundy region of France — fall into this group.



TIP

We serve white wines cool, but not ice cold. Sometimes, restaurants serve white wines too cold, and we actually have to wait a while for the wine to warm up before we drink it. If you like your wine cold, fine; but try drinking your favorite white wine a little less cold sometime, and we bet you'll discover it has more flavor that way. In Chapter 8, we recommend specific serving temperatures for various types of wine.

Red, red wine

In this case, the name is correct. Red wines really are red. They can be purple red, ruby red, or garnet, but they're red.

Red wines are made from grapes that are red or bluish in color. So guess what wine people call these grapes? Black grapes! We suppose that's because black is the opposite of white.

POPULAR WHITE WINES

These types of white wine are available almost everywhere in the United States. We describe these wines in Parts 3 and 4.

- Chardonnay: Can come from California, Australia, France, or almost any other place
- Pinot Grigio or Pinot Gris: Can come from Italy, France, Oregon, California, and other places
- Prosecco: Comes from Italy (and it's a bubbly wine)
- **Riesling:** Can come from Germany, California, New York, Washington, France, Austria, Australia, and other places
- Sauvignon Blanc: Can come from California, France, New Zealand, South Africa, Italy, and other places
- Soave: Comes from Italy

The most obvious difference between red wine and white wine is color. The red color occurs when the colorless juice of red grapes stays in contact with the dark grape skins during fermentation and absorbs the skins' color. Along with color, the grape skins give the wine *tannin*, a substance that's an important part of the way a red wine tastes. (See Chapter 2 for more about tannin.) The presence of tannin in red wines is actually the key taste difference between red wines and white wines.

Red wines vary quite a lot in style — partly because winemakers have so many ways of adjusting their red winemaking to achieve the kind of wine they want. For example, if winemakers leave the grape juice in contact with the skins for a long time, the wine becomes more *tannic* (firmer in the mouth, like strong tea; tannic wines can make you pucker). If winemakers drain the juice off the skins sooner, the wine is softer and less tannic. And heating the crushed grapes can extract color without much tannin.



Traditionally, people have consumed red wine as part of a meal or with accompanying food rather than as a drink on its own, but plenty of red wines today are made to taste delicious even without food.

Thanks to the wide range of red wine styles, you can find red wines to go with just about every type of food and every occasion when you want to drink wine. The one exception is times when you want to drink a wine with bubbles: Although bubbly red wines do exist, most bubbly wines are white or pink. In Chapter 9, we give you some tips on matching red wine with food.